1996

Weideman v. Weideman : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

IV.		STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	A.	Nature of the Case 2
	B.	Statement of the Facts 3
V.		SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 8
VI.		ARGUMENT 9
VII		CONCLUSION14
VIII		REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 15
IX.		CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 17
X.		APPENDIX OF TRIAL EXHIBITSd

TABLE OF CASES , STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES

State Court Cases

Andersen v. Andersen,
757 P.2d 476 (Utah App. 1988)10, 11

Berger v. Berger,
713 P.2d 695 (Utah 1985)1

Bernham v. Bernham,
716 P.2d 781 (Utah 1986) 9

Colman v. Colman,
743 P.2d 782 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) 9

Fletcher v. Fletcher,
615 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1980)1

Howell v. Howell,
806 P.2d 1209 (Utah App. 1991)1

Jefferies v. Jefferies,
985 P.2d 835 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) 10

Jense v. Jense,
784 P.2d 1249 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) 2

McCrary v. McCrary,
599 P.2d 1248 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) 9

Morgan v. Morgan,
795 P.2d 684 (Utah App. 1990)1

Morgan v. Morgan II ,
854 P.2d 559 (Utah App. 1993)12

State Court Cases (Cont.)

Munns v. Munns,
790 P.2d 116 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) 14

Peck v. Peck,
738 P.2d 1050 (Utah App. 1987)10

Rappleye v. Rappleye,
855 P.2d 260 (Utah App. 1993)13, 14

Rasband v. Rasband,
752 P.2d 1331 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) 2

Shepherd v. Shepherd,
876 P.2d 429 (Utah App. 1994)12

Smith v. Smith,
793 P.2d 407 (Utah Ct. App. 1990) 2

Statutes

Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(i) (1995)1

Rules

Utah R.Civ.P. 52 (a)2

II. JURISDICTION

The Judicial Code of Utah states, “The Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction . . . over appeals from district court involving domestic relations cases, including, but not limited to, divorce, annulment, property division, child custody, support, visitation, adoption, and paternity.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(i) (1995).

The underlying matter was a divorce and the issue on appeal concerns property division; therefore, this Court has appropriate jurisdiction to consider this appeal.

III. ISSUE FOR REVIEW

A. Statement of Issue

Plaintiff is appealing the equal division of a marital asset which existed at the time of the Parties’ separation but which had been spent by the time of trial some twenty-seven months later. It is well established in Utah law that the marital estate should be valued as of the time of the divorce decree. *Fletcher v. Fletcher*, 615 P.2d 1218 (Utah 1980); *Berger v. Berger*, 713 P.2d 695 (Utah 1985); *Howell v. Howell*, 806 P.2d 1209 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). While acknowledging this general rule in *Morgan v. Morgan*, this Court held that such is not intractable; [h]owever, the trial court’s findings must be sufficiently detailed to explain its basis for deviating from the general rule. 795 P.2d 684, 688 (Utah App. 1990).

In the case before this Court, since the value of the marital asset of \$10,377 in a money market account on December 17, 1993, which had not been a part of a pension plan for more than four years, was zero at the time of the Decree of Divorce, Plaintiff contends that the

division of this marital asset by the trial court without making any findings to substantiate its deviation from established precedent was clearly erroneous, contrary to Utah law and an abuse of the court's discretion.

B. Standard of Review

Trial courts have considerable discretion in determining . . . property distribution in divorce cases, and will be upheld on appeal unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is demonstrated. *Rasband v. Rasband*, 752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Findings of fact in divorce appeals are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of review such that "due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial court to judge the credibility of the witnesses." Utah R.Civ.P. 52 (a); *Jense v. Jense*, 784 P.2d 1249, 1251 (Utah Ct. App. 1989). Conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness and given no special deference on appeal. *Smith v. Smith*, 793 P.2d 407, 409 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

The underlying case giving rise to the issue on appeal is a divorce action. After twenty-six years of marriage, the Parties seeking to divorce separated on January 7, 1994 and Plaintiff filed for divorce at the end of that month. The matter came on for trial March 14, 1996, some twenty-six plus months from the Parties' separation.

Defendant claimed at trial that Plaintiff had a money market account containing over ten thousand dollars as of December 17, 1993, twenty-seven months earlier. He produced no evidence that any of

this asset remained at pretrial much less at trial because it did not. He produced no evidence that Plaintiff dissipated this asset improperly. To the contrary, Plaintiff testified at trial she spent this asset to maintain the mortgage, pay on marital debts and support herself.

Defendant produced evidence at trial that he paid a total of only \$100 on marital debt for the entire twenty-seven months of this action's pendency in spite of having been court-ordered on April 25, 1994 to maintain payments to six creditors, two of which were non-marital creditors on accounts in his name.

Without any evidence to justify its decisions, the trial court distributed the Parties' assets/liabilities all to Defendant's decided advantage and Plaintiff's decided detriment. The trial court awarded Defendant the equity in the marital property determined at the time of trial so that he received the benefit of the twenty-seven mortgage payments Plaintiff made without offset for having made all those payments herself. Then it awarded Defendant half the value, determined at the time of separation, of an asset Plaintiff had no choice but to consume because her income alone, especially after IRS garnishments, was insufficient to maintain the mortgage, the marital debts Plaintiff was court-ordered to pay in addition to the debts Defendant failed to pay that she paid and to support herself as well.

Plaintiff appeals the trial court's deviation, without making any findings to substantiate it, from established precedent as being clearly erroneous, contrary to Utah law and an abuse of the court's discretion.

B. Statement Of The Facts

In 1989, Marriott Inc., Plaintiff's employer sold its air catering

division to Caterair International and dispersed its pension holdings of its former employees to those employees. Plaintiff continued on in the employment of Caterair. Plaintiff received \$24,247 less \$2172.97 in Federal taxes withheld or a total of \$22,074.03 on February 22, 1990. (Appendix a-1 & a-2). She intended to roll this distribution over within the next year but paid on marital debts instead. By December 17, 1993, she had only \$10,377.26 of the original amount left in a money market account where she had placed it after it was disbursed. (Appendix a- 3).

The Parties separated in early January, 1994 and Plaintiff filed for divorce on January 31, 1994. (R-1 through 6). Plaintiff's net pay at that time had been approximately \$1000 per month. (R-27) Besides a mortgage payment of \$434 per month which Plaintiff continued to pay as she had always done, she initially had to pay over \$500 in overdue utility bills she discovered Defendant had not paid in order to prevent these services from being terminated. (R-26 & R-29 through 30, respectively). In addition, she continued to maintain payments on other marital debts, her own maintenance, transportation expenses, monthly utilities, attorney fees and court costs, etc. (R-27, 29 through 30).

Shortly after the Parties' separation the IRS began garnishing Plaintiff's wages. For March and April of 1994, her take home pay was approximately \$200 per month. (R-28). Also after the separation, she discovered Defendant had been lying about having paid property taxes he assured her he was paying and that none had been paid since 1990. Plaintiff paid \$1900 in March, 1994, just prior to the IRS' garnishment of her wages, for three years' back taxes on the marital residence. (R-

29). She had already just paid the IRS and the Utah tax commission \$500 each for back income taxes to try to prevent garnishments the IRS imposed anyway. (R-29). She had no choice but to rely on the monies in the money market account to pay on debts and her own maintenance. (R-166 through 167).

A Motion Hearing for Temporary Relief came before the court commissioner on April 25, 1994. In the minute entry of that hearing, the court ordered Plaintiff to maintain the mortgage and three obligations owed to Cypress Credit Union. (R-53). Defendant was ordered to maintain, among other obligations, \$100 monthly payments on the IRS tax liability as well as “make arrangements with the state tax commissioner to pay sum each month to prevent any further collection efforts against either party.” *Id.* Each was to “maintain those debts in their [sic] own names.” *Id.* Defendant was allowed to keep all his earned income and his AT & T pension income of \$213 per month to enable him to maintain the debts as ordered (no temporary alimony). *Id.*

At trial, Defendant produced only one bona fide receipt evidencing he made one \$100 payment to the IRS on July 14, 1994 and no other evidence of having maintained any other marital debt obligations as ordered. (Appendix a-6). At trial, he also produced a letter dated August 5, 1994 from the state tax commission indicating he had been granted a hardship status deferring any requirements of payment from him for twelve months during which time the interest and penalties would continue to accrue. (Appendix a-7). This did not prevent the state from going after and seizing Plaintiff's returns, however. Apparently Defendant neglected to file any income tax

returns since the last joint filing with Plaintiff in 1993 (not submitted on discovery requests). Most likely he did not file in order to avoid seizure of any refunds due him.

In the Second Amended Decree of Divorce, the court has ordered the parties to pay all marital debts owing out of the equity in the marital home. (R-365). Because interest and penalties continued to accumulate on the unpaid state taxes and all other marital debts Defendant was ordered to pay but did not, Plaintiff has been further penalized by having to “pay” half the penalties and interest that have accumulated on the unpaid debts Defendant was to have paid that were in his or both their names. Debts Defendant was ordered to maintain that were in Plaintiff’s name, Plaintiff maintained when she discovered Defendant was not paying on these. The penalties and interest plus the unpaid principal on these marital debts obviously amount to more than was initially owed on the debts in the first place, again to Plaintiff’s detriment while Defendant kept his pension and income to do with whatever he wanted, resulting in further serious inequity.

What with no help from Defendant toward paying marital debts in spite of having been court-ordered to do so, Plaintiff used all her income, all the remainder of the pension she had intended to roll over years earlier but paid on debts Defendant neglected since she received it both before and after the Parties’ separation, and still she had to borrow money from her family in order to live. (R-166 through 167). Plaintiff has been unable to repay the monies she has had to borrow from family.

Plaintiff testified at trial that she had no control of Marriott’s dispersion of her pension funds. (Transcript-3 @ 10-12 & Transcript-5

@ 13-14). She testified that Defendant was unemployed and unable to make house payments at the time, so these funds were used to pay marital debts and that although Defendant promised to replace them for “their retirement,” he never did. (Transcript-1 @ 10-17). Plaintiff also testified that she had over ten thousand dollars remaining in a money market account prior to the Parties’ separation. (Transcript-3 @ 13-14 & Transcript-7 @ 7). Plaintiff said that she paid marital debts with that money and that she had none of it left. (Transcript-3 @ 16-19; Transcript-7 @18-25; Transcript-8 @ 1-6 & 25 & Transcript-9 @1-10) *also see* (R-166 through 167).

At trial, no testimony was solicited from Defendant (nor from any other witness) that Plaintiff did not, in fact, pay these debts as she testified. Credibility of conflicting testimonies is not nor was at issue. No evidence was produced that Plaintiff had/has hidden this money nor dissipated these funds improperly not acted obstructively, yet the trial court treated her as though she had done one or more of these without any evidence of wrongdoing before it and without any findings to substantiate such so as to support its deviation from established precedent.

The trial court awarded Defendant all his retirement and pension income. (R-364). He was allowed to keep his Brasher’s retirement valued at approximately \$2000 at the time of trial. The value of Defendant’s AT & T pension depends solely on how many more years he lives to collect the \$213 per month he currently receives and has been receiving even before the Parties separated. He has enjoyed the exclusive use of these monthly payments for three years since the separation amounting to approximately \$7500. Although the court

awarded Plaintiff her presently accumulated pension plan valued at approximately \$16,000 at trial, before she can begin to draw on her retirement, Defendant will have realized four times the three-year payout he has already received. Yet the Court then awarded half the amount remaining as of December, 1993 from Plaintiff's Marriott reimbursed funds (which had not been a pension plan for four years by the time the parties separated and that she was compelled to spend to pay the Parties' debts and to support herself) to Defendant in addition to the inequitable division of the Parties' retirement monies.

Rather than punishing Defendant's disregard of its orders, the trial court rewarded Defendant's contempt for its orders by obviously favoring him in its final decree. Plaintiff obeyed the orders as directed by the trial court yet she was significantly shortchanged. The court provided no reason for this inequitable distribution of the Parties' asset and debt allocation. Its orders appear capricious and a clear abuse of its discretion.

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court deviated from the standards set by this court for determining the value of a certain marital asset, namely a money market account that contained more than ten thousand dollars just prior to the Parties' separation but did not exist at the time of trial twenty-seven months later, by awarding half the monies determined at the time the Parties separated, to Defendant. Although according to these standards, any such deviation should have been supported by sufficiently detailed findings to explain its basis for deviating from the general rule, the trial court provided no, much less sufficiently detailed

findings for its deviation.

On the contrary, all evidence and testimony at trial supported Plaintiff's position that she did not dissipate, hide nor act obstructively regarding this asset but that she was compelled to spend the asset on (1) maintaining debts she and Defendant were court-ordered to pay (something he did not do); (2) paying all the mortgage payments on the marital property for which she is to receive no offset even though Defendant benefits from her twenty-seven payments in significantly increased equity (mortgage reduced by Plaintiff's payments) at the time of divorce; (3) and supporting herself. The trial court provided Plaintiff no allowance for self-maintenance costs while Defendant freely spent all his income without having to account for his failure to maintain those debts he was ordered to pay.

VI. ARGUMENT

In *Bernham v. Bernham*, this Court held that trial courts in divorce proceedings are given considerable discretion in adjusting the parties' financial and property interests. 716 P.2d 781, 782 (Utah 1986). The trial court's actions are presumed valid, and to overcome that presumption, the appealing party must demonstrate that there was "misunderstanding or misapplication of the law resulting in substantial and prejudicial error, or that the evidence clearly preponderated against the findings, or that such a serious inequity has resulted from the order as to constitute an abuse of the trial court's discretion." *Colman v. Colman*, 743 P.2d 782, 789 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) [quoting *McCrary v. McCrary*, 599 P.2d 1248, 1250 (Utah Ct. App. 1987)]. Plaintiff argues that the trial court misapplied the law

resulting in substantial and prejudicial error and that a serious inequity has resulted from its orders as to constitute an abuse of the trial court's discretion.

In *Peck v. Peck*, this Court held that although assets are generally valued at the time of the divorce decree, the trial court may value the property at an earlier date where one party has dissipated an asset, hidden its value or otherwise acted obstructively. 738 P.2d 1050, 1052 (Utah Ct. App. 1987). Likewise, this Court upheld the trial court's deviation to value the marital estate at an earlier time than at trial in *Jefferies v. Jefferies* because the trial court found that the husband's transfer of money from the marital estate to the children dissipated marital assets in an attempt to hide these from the wife. 985 P.2d 835, 838 (Utah Ct. App. 1995).

No allegations were asserted at any time during the pendency of the present action nor was evidence introduced at trial to suggest Plaintiff "dissipated" this asset, hid its value or otherwise acted obstructively. In fact, to the contrary, Plaintiff testified at trial as to how this money was utilized. Defendant did not challenge Plaintiff's testimony concerning this asset, how it was used nor did he produce any evidence that Plaintiff might have hidden this asset from him at the time of trial. Defendant did not dispute that this asset was gone.

In *Andersen v. Andersen*, the facts adduced at trial indicated that defendant held an IRA worth over \$8000 on July of 1986. Two months later and after the parties separated, defendant cashed the IRA, taking over \$4000 and transferring \$4000 to another bank certificate. Within a month after that, he cashed the \$4000 certificate. At trial held approximately six months later, defendant testified only \$3300

remained of that IRA “but did not explain disposition of the remainder of the funds.” 757 P.2d 476, 479 (Utah App. 1988). This Court remanded this issue to the trial court to determine how the money was spent.

Over a period of twenty-seven months in the current case, Plaintiff used a money market account of about twice the amount that defendant in *Andersen* consumed in only seven months; however, she testified how those monies were expended. *Id.* The Court made no finding, as it did in *Andersen*, as to the disposable income of the parties after paying the court-ordered marital debts and in Plaintiff’s case, the taxes and debts Defendant failed to pay. *Id.* It is only equitable that an individual be allowed at least something on which to live. Where Plaintiff was forced by garnishment to pay Defendant’s court-ordered obligations while trying to maintain those she was ordered to pay and those he was ordered to pay and did not, that she would have to rely on something other than her income (i.e. the money market account and loans from family members) to pay on the marital debts as well as pay for her own maintenance should have been obvious to the trial court.

In its decision to divide a non-existent asset and only allow Plaintiff an offset against marital debt paid and holding mortgage payments would not be considered marital debt, the trial court failed to provide Plaintiff any allowance for even marginal living expenses. It placed no such burden on Defendant. He was allowed to keep all his earnings and pension benefits he received during this period to spend however he wished during these same twenty-seven months without paying, as ordered, on the marital debts. Then he was allowed to enjoy

the increased equity in the marital home that Plaintiff bought down by maintaining the mortgage, again without any findings to justify this disparate and inequitable treatment.

In *Morgan v. Morgan II*, this Court held that it is well settled that the present value . . . of retirement accounts accrued during the marriage, are marital assets and. . . should be valued as of the time of the divorce and should be equitably divided. 854 P.2d 559 (Utah App. 1993). The value of Appellant's retirement account with Marriott was zero on February 21, 1990. It was still zero at the time of trial. Plaintiff had no Marriott retirement account valued at \$10,377 as of December 17, 1993. Yet the trial court held this to be a retirement account to be divided as a retirement benefit. This characterization is not consistent with the facts and therefore clearly erroneous.

In *Shepherd v. Shepherd*, plaintiff challenged the trial court's decision to value the marital estate at the time of separation rather than at the time of trial. 876 P.2d 429, 433 (Utah App. 1994). There the trial court made detailed findings that plaintiff not only used more of the marital assets than authorized but had seriously depleted the marital estate. Based on these detailed findings, this Court held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in valuing the marital estate at the date of separation rather than the date of trial. *Id.*

Not only did the trial court use a date other than the date of divorce to determine the value of a single marital asset without supporting its decision with any findings of fact explaining its deviation from the general rule, but assuming it may have deviated because it found Plaintiff used all the asset, it made no finding that she did so wrongfully. Plaintiff maintains that it should have used the same date

to evaluate all the marital estate rather than arbitrarily and capriciously picking and choosing which assets were to be evaluated at the time of separation versus at the time of divorce without providing any justification in its findings for obviously favoring Defendant financially by selecting different times to value different marital property as it did.

The trial court's decision has resulted in Plaintiff's being required to pay for half an asset she no longer has while she was compelled to use all her assets including the expended money market account to significantly reduce the mortgage on the marital real property and increase Defendant's equity based on her buy down of the mortgage and the inflationary increase in the property's value over twenty-seven months. However viewed, this decision requires Plaintiff to pay twice and Defendant benefits even though he came before the court with unclean hands by not paying, other than making a token attempt, on the marital debts as ordered. The result is neither equitable nor substantiated by the trial court's findings.

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