1996

V. Arlene Weideman, Plaintiff/Appellant, vs. Duane Weideman, Defendant/Appellee : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court is granted broad discretion in both determining how marital property will be divided and on what date the value of such property will be determined. This authority is given to the trial court when the circumstances warrant based upon the trial court’s equitable powers.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that a date other than the date of trial would be used for valuing money placed in a money market account. The trial court determined that the date of valuation would be close to the time of separation when the account had a value of over \$10,000. The court’s decision was based upon the undisputed fact that the Plaintiff had unilaterally depleted all the funds by the time the case came before the court for trial. Though the Plaintiff claimed that the funds were used to pay bills and meet living expenses, the funds are still subject to equitable division by the trial court. Further, the trial court acted prudently by allowing the Plaintiff to deduct one-half of marital debt paid by Plaintiff during the course of separation from the Defendant’s half of the money in the account.

The Plaintiff has the burden of marshaling the evidence in support of the trial court’s findings and then demonstrate why such findings are still against the clear weight of the evidence. Plaintiff has failed to marshal the evidence and has further stated facts that are not supported by the record. Therefore, it is assumed that the record supports the findings of the trial court’s conclusions of law.

The trial court's findings are sufficiently detailed to support the deviation of when a marital asset should be valued. More specifically, the court provided a specific dollar amount of the asset, a specific date when the asset should be value, along with an explanation of what became of the asset. The trial court's decision should be upheld.

ARGUMENT

Point I

The Trial Court Has Broad Discretion In Both Equitably Dividing a Parties' Marital Assets and Determining The Time at Which to Value the Marital Assets

When a marital estate is divided, the trial court is empowered with broad equitable powers concerning such property division. Kerr v. Kerr, 610 P.2d 1380, 1382 (Utah 1980). "In the distribution of the marital estate there is no fixed rule of formula." Gramme v. Gramme, 587 P.2d 144 (1978). Because trial courts have been granted considerable discretion concerning property distribution, their decisions will be upheld on appeal unless the moving party can show a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion. Rasband v. Rasband, 752 P.2d 1331, 1333 (Utah Ct. App. 1988).

Part and parcel with such a philosophy, trial courts are allowed to use their equitable powers to determine when a marital asset shall be valued. When determining the value of a parties' marital estate, the general rule is that the estate should be valued at the time of the divorce decree or trial. Rappleve v. Rappleve, 855 P.2d 260, 262 (Utah App. 1993); accord Fletcher v. Fletcher, 615 P.2d 1218, 1222-23 (Utah 1980); Peck v. Peck, 738 P.2d 1050, 1052 (Utah App. 1987). However, when the circumstances warrant, a trial court may use its equitable powers to determine a different date to set the value of a

marital asset. For example, in the case of Peck v. Peck, the trial court used the date of separation because one party had acted obstructively with the marital asset. Id.

In the present case, the trial court followed the general rule of valuing the marital assets at the time of trial with the exception of the \$10,377.26 in the money market account. Regarding the money market account, the trial court used its equitable powers to determine the value of the money market account at the time of separation rather than the time of trial. At trial, evidence was adduced that the Defendant received funds from her retirement account on February 22, 1990 in the amount of \$22,074.03. (Tr 5, R 384). The money was then placed in a money market account with only the Plaintiff and her mother's name on the statements which were mailed to her mother's home. (Tr 5-6, R 384-385). The Defendant's name was not on the account. (Tr 6, R 385). The Plaintiff testified that she paid off marital debts with the money though she provided no specific accounting of such. (Tr 6 - 7, R 385 - 386). At trial, the Plaintiff stated that it would not be fair for the Defendant to receive one-half of the funds in the money market account but it would be fair for him to pay one-half of the marital debt. (Tr 9, R 388).

In support of its ruling, the trial court found that, "the facts show that the plaintiff received in excess of \$24,000 from her retirement and, within days before the parties' separation, still had remaining \$10,377 in an account which she used." (R. 335 & 336). The trial court also found that, the defendant is entitled to \$5,168 of the amount cashed out by plaintiff and said amount shall be used as an offset against one-half of the marital debts that the plaintiff has paid. (R. 335 & 336).

In the present case the facts are undisputed. Prior to the time of separation the parties had \$10,377.77 in a money market account. The Defendant did not have access to

the money. The Plaintiff provided absolutely no evidence that the money was not a marital asset nor did she provide any evidence that a sum less than the above amount existed at the time of separation. Thus, the trial court correctly assumed that the funds were a marital asset subject to equitable division. Since there was no money left in the account at the time of trial, and the Plaintiff failed to provided the court with either another acceptable date or an accurate accounting of the funds, the trial court, based upon the facts presented, valued the marital asset as of December 17, 1993, when the account had \$10,377.77.

POINT II

The Trial Court Did Not Abuse Its Discretion When It Determined The Value Of The Marital Property At The Time Of Separation Rather Than At The Time Of Trial

The Plaintiff contends that the trial court abused its discretion because, “[N]o allegations were asserted at any time during the pendency of the present action nor was evidence introduced at trial to suggest Plaintiff “dissipated” this asset, hid its value or otherwise acted obstructively.” (App. Brief pg. 10). Plaintiff further states that, “to the contrary, Plaintiff testified at trial as to how the money was utilized.” *Id.* In support of this contention, Plaintiff argues that the court divided a non-existent asset while only allowing Plaintiff an offset against marital debt paid and not the mortgage payments. Further, the Plaintiff complains that, “the trial court failed to provide Plaintiff any allowance for even marginal living expenses. It placed no such burden on Defendant.” *Id.* at 11.

Plaintiff relies on Peck v Peck and other cases which holds that, “where one party has dissipated an asset, hidden its value, or otherwise acted obstructively, the trial court

may, under its broad discretion, value the property at an earlier date, i.e., separation.” 738 P.2d 1050, 1052 (Utah App. 1987) However, the case law does not support such a narrow requirement that the trial court must find some sort of bad or obstructive action on the part of the Plaintiff before a marital asset will be valued at a time other than trial. In Shepherd v. Shepherd, 876 P 2d, 429 (Utah App. 1994), the trial court’s decision to value the marital estate at the time of separation was upheld though it was used by the plaintiff for his support. In Shepherd, it was noted that the trial court found that the plaintiff had, utilized portions of the marital estate for his own support during the pendency of the action and that defendant had no access to the liquid assets of the estate during that period. Id. at 433. Further, the trial court found that plaintiff had, “utilized more of the marital assets than authorized and that plaintiff’s use of the marital assets had seriously depleted the marital estate.” Id.

A requirement that a party must wrongfully use a marital asset before the court can determine that a different date can be used to value the marital asset would be against public policy. Such a requirement would allow, if not encourage, one party to unilaterally deplete a marital asset prior to the date of trial and then seek the protection of the court in not dividing the non-existent asset because it was spent on daily needs and living expenses. One could bypass the need for temporary orders regarding alimony and access to marital funds upon a mere showing after the fact that the marital funds were used for necessary living expenses and that they do not exist at the time of trial. Such a holding would allow one party to race to the bank and drain funds with impunity. In the present case, if the trial court had determined that the Plaintiff was entitled to the funds because she “needed them” and they were non-existent at the time of trial, it would have given the Plaintiff

something akin to temporary alimony in excess of \$5,000.00 to meet her needs though she earns \$700.00 more per month than the Defendant.

In the case at bar, the parties went before a domestic relations commissioner on April 25, 1994, slightly over three months after separation. The commissioner ruled that the, "parties agree to preliminary injunction from disposing of marital property without written permission or court order and restrained from incurring debt in name of the other party." (R. 54). Though there was no evidence produced at trial as to when the money market account had been completely depleted, it is clear that account was a marital asset which was not to be spent by the parties pending final resolution of the case. Further, the facts are clear that the marital asset existed at a time prior to the parties' separation and that at the time of trial the asset no longer existed. It is undisputed that the plaintiff used the funds for her own support and that the defendant had no access to the funds.

Based upon the evidence, the trial court did not abuse its discretion or order an unjust division of the assets. Quite to the contrary, the trial court created the only fair and equitable decision possible in light of the Plaintiff's unilateral decision to utilize a sizable amount of the parties' assets for her own use and benefits. First, the trial court determined the value of the asset at the only point in time when there were clearly funds still in the account. Second, the trial court provided the Plaintiff with relief for the marital debts she claims to have paid with the marital asset. Therefore, if the Plaintiff had indeed paid all of the funds toward marital debts, then the Defendant would not receive any of the funds in the money market account, but he would receive a credit for the verifiable debts paid by Plaintiff up to one-half of the total amount in the money market account. In this case the trial court further ordered that any additional debts paid for by the Plaintiff or still

owing would be deducted equally from the parties' equity in the marital home. Thus relieving the Plaintiff of any burden placed upon her by paying for the marital debts. If the trial court had decided the issue in a manner suggested by the Plaintiff, an injustice would have occurred for the Defendant would have lost over \$5,000 in marital assets while still being liable for one-half of the marital debts.

It is the burden of the Plaintiff to marshal the evidence in support of the trial court's findings and then demonstrate why, the trial court's findings are so lacking in support as to be against the clear weight of the evidence, thus making them clearly erroneous. In re Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885, 886 (Utah 1989). Plaintiff has not only failed to marshal the evidence in support of the questioned findings, she has given facts which are not part of the evidence to be considered by this Court. For example, in Plaintiff's trial brief she states that the Plaintiff's take home pay in April of 1994 was \$200.00 per month because of IRS garnishment. (App. Brief 4). However, the only "evidence" of such is the Plaintiff's own Affidavit. "If the appellant fails to marshal the evidence, the appellate court assumes that the record supports the findings of the trial court and proceeds to a review of the accuracy of the lower court's conclusions of law and the application of that law in the case." Saunders v Sharp, 806 P 2d 198, 199 (Utah 1991).

POINT III

The Trial Court Provided Sufficiently Detailed Findings of Fact

When the trial court deviates from the general rule regarding the time when a marital asset will be valued, it must support that deviation with, "sufficiently detailed findings of fact that explain the trial court's basis for deviation. Morgan v. Morgan, 795

P.2d 684, 688 (Utah App. 1990). Appellant cites Rappleye, 855 P 2d 260, in support of her contention that the trial court did not provide sufficiently detailed findings of fact upon which to base a deviation of the general rule regarding when a marital asset will be divided. In Rappleye, it was noted that there were no subsidiary findings to support the trial court's determination that the account should be valued at \$58,456 when the uncontroverted evidence showed that the account had a negative balance. Id. at 262. Thus, the trial court's valuation was vacated and remanded for, "more detailed findings regarding the date at which the account should be valued, as well as its basis for valuing it as of such date." Id. In the case at bar, the uncontroverted evidence showed that the account had \$10,377.00 prior to the parties' separation and that the Plaintiff spent the money in the account. The trial court has provided sufficient findings of fact regarding the value of the account at a time relatively close to the parties' separation to support a deviation from the general rule regarding when a marital asset should be valued.


CONCLUSION

The trial court exercised its discretion in determining that the value of the money market account should be valued at a time other than the time of trial for the Plaintiff unilaterally spent all of the funds in the account. The trial court's decision was the only equitable decision possible in light of the parties' relative incomes and the Plaintiff's actions in spending money which was not hers to spend. The Plaintiff now appeals the trial court's decision and asserts that the decision was against the clear weight of the evidence for she spent the money for legitimate expenses. Case law does not allow for the unilateral depletion of marital funds even if one party argues it was used for legitimate expenses. Plaintiff must marshal the evidence in support of the Findings, and then show

that, even viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the court's findings, those findings are clearly erroneous. Plaintiff has failed to marshal the evidence or show that the trial court abused its discretion in any fashion.

Defendant respectfully submits that Plaintiff's appeal is without merit, prays that the appeal be dismissed, and that Defendant be awarded attorney fees for his defense of this matter.